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1. Name of Property

historic name Bolick Historic District

other names/site number Bolick Buggy Shop: Bolick Family Houses

2. Location

street & number E & W sides First Ave. S. btwn. U.S. 64/70 & 12th St. X/Anot for publication

city, town Conover X / Avicinity

state North Carolina c¢ode NC county Catawba code 035 zip code 28613

3. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property

private [:] building(s) Contributing Noncontributing

[ public-local [ A district 9 4 buildings

l:} public-State [ Jsite sites

D public-Federal [:] structure 1 structures
Dobject objects

10 4 - Total

Numbser of contributing resources previously

Name of related muliiple property listing:
listed in the National Register ___ 0

Historic & Architectural ource
of C Catawba Gounty, N.C.
4. State/Federal Agency Certification

' N
As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1366, as amended, | hereby certify that this
.nomination D request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the

National Ri}l/;ter of Historic Place>?d meets the procedural and professional requiremsnts set forth in 36 CFR Part 80.

Inm the p does not meet the National Register criteria. [:]See continuation shest.
/7 /Lw —- June 4, 1990

S(gnature of cemfymg official’ Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property Dmeets [:]does not meet the National Register criteria. DSee continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
I, hereby, certify that this property is:
[ Jentered in the National Register.
D See continuation shest.
Ddetermined eligible for the National
Register. DS&G continuation sheet.
Ddetermined not eligible for the
National Register.

D removed from the National Register.
Dother. (explain:)

Signature of the Keepsr Date of Acticn




Bolick Historic District, Catawba County, N.C.

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Industry/Processing/Extraction:
Manufacturing

Domestic: single dwelling

Current Functions (enter gategories from instructions)

Industry/Processing

Extraction:

Manufacturing

Domestic:

single dwelling

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(enter categories from instructions)

Colonial Revival
Bungalow/Craftsman

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

foundation brick
walls brick,
tin
roof slate
other stone
wood

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

Situated at the southern edge of Conover, the Bolick His-
toric District comprises the remaining buildings of the Jerome
Bolick & Sons Company buggy works and four houses with accompany-—
ing outbuildings which were erected by members of the HBolick
family. The Tocation of the district s

in two senses —-- first because it

in a transitional area
Ties both within the oity

Timits of Conover as well as to the south of those Timits, nearly
abutting the northern boundary of Newton,

is at the point where a residential
from the district) meets an fdindustrial

south and east). The district

and second because At

area (which spreads westward
arega (which spreads to the
itself contains both Hdndustrial

and residential structures related by family ties.

The Bolick Historic District straddies Conover's busy First

Avenue South (Hwy. 16), which becomes North

enters Newton Just to the south.

Joining the two towns. The district

Main Avenue where At

This street is the main artery

is bounded on the north by

Us 64/70, which crosses beneath First Avenue South and separates
the historic area ftrom the rest of Conover to the north. Catawba
Street forms the eastern boundary of the district, and Just east
of thisg street are the tracks of the Southern Railroad, bheyond

which are various industrial properties.

The most recent build-

ings of the buggy works form the southernmost portion of the
district, south of which 1is & mixture of commercial and +Tindustri-
al concerns. Southwest of the district are scattered houses of
Jater construction and no relationship with the history of the

district. Not far west of the rear
Bolick property (the westernmost point

property Tine of the Oscar
in the district) dis US 321

with dts accompanying commercial development.

An  unusual combination of buildings 1s found within the
BoTick Historic Uistrict. The most significant, as well as the
oldest, structure 1is the original Bolick Buggy Shop, a well

preserved one-story brick and stone buiiding Tocated in a wooded
area at the northwest corner of Catawba Street and SR 1743 (known
variously as 171th Street or 31st Street.)
SR 1743 are Tater buildings associated with the buggy works.
Most of the frame and metal structures which once stood on the

On the south side of

[:7‘] See continuation sheet
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Section number

site have been recently destroyed, and those which remain are now

used for warehouse purposes. The other buiidings 1in the district
—— all domestic structures —-— lie to the north of the +dndustrial
complex. The James Bolick House at rhe north end of the district

is a two-story Trame Jlate Victorian—-Colonial Revival house proba-
bly built during the early years of the twentieth century. South
of the James Bolick House are the D. Edgar Bolick House on the
east side of First Avenue and the second OUscar W. Bolick House on
the west side of the street. Both are two-story brick Colontial
Revival dwellings built around the 1930s. The second Uscar
Bolick House, Jlocated on an unusually deep wooded TJot, 1s accom-
panied by a rustic cabin and family bowling aliley, built at the
same time as the house. The fourth house, Jocated Jjust north of
the second Oscar Bolick House, is the first Oscar Bolick Houss, a
one-and-one—-half story brick veneer and frame bungalow built 1in
1920. ATl of the houses are on large wooded lots, creating 2
handsome streetscape.

Inventory List

The following 1is a descriptive Tisting of all properties
within the Bolick Historic District, keyved by number to the
accompanying district map.

Jerome Bolick & Sons Company

North & South sides R 1743 between First Avenue South and

Catawba St.

The Jerome Bolick & Sons Company manufactured buggies from

the 1880s until circa 1820 when the demand for buggies decTined
due to the automobile. Thereafter truck bodies were manufactured
and repaired, and after 1828 school bus bodies were also built.
The HBolick firm became a leading manufacturer of school bus

bodies 14n the South. In 1953 the company dropped the bus busi-
ness to concentrate on truck bodies, and in 1978 the business

closed.

1. Bolick Buggy Shop
1883
Contributing

This 1s believed to be the original building of the Jerome
Bolick & Sons Company. [t is a one—-story structure, one bhay wide
and four deep. The Tower third of the building s constructed
with cut stones, while the upper two thirds of the walls are of
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brick construction Taid in common bond. The building is covered
by a broad, metal-sheathed gable roof with overhanging boxed
eaves. East and west gables are weatherboarded. The east and
wast gable ends of the builiding sach have a central entrance with
double Teaf, five-panel doors set within a segmental arched
opening. The four Targe six-over-six sash windows on north and
south sides of the building have been boarded up. The dnterior

of the buggy shop consists of one Targe space with exposed brick
and stone walls and wooden roof system and a row of heavy wood

support posts down the center. The buggy shop is Tocated in the
wooded southeast corner of the D. Edgar Bolick House Tot, across
SR 1743 from the remaining Bolick Company builidings, and 4s not

in use at present.

2-5. Other Jeroms Bolick & Sons Company Budildings
Second quarter of twentieth century, remodellied 1983

This complex is now used as warehousing for G.5. Fibers, &
textile manufacturer. The Tot on which the buildings stand s
covered with dirt and granite gravel and is surrounded by a chain
Tink fence. Several buildings 1in the complex, dnciuding a plan-—
ing mill, warehouse, Tumber shed, boiler house and office, as
well as a 7,000 gallon water tank, all on the site prior to 1932,
were demolished during the 1983 renovations of the site undertak-
en by the present owner.

2. OfFfice (noncontributing). This 1947 frame office s a
small, sguare, one-story structure with German siding, pyramidal
roof, brick chimney on north side, glass and wood paneled doors
on west and south sides, and gsix-over—-one sash windows. A shed-
roofed drive-through s attached to the south side.

3. Garage (noncontr-ibuting). Huilt post 1932, probabliy in  the
198508, corrugated metal-sheathed frame building with shed roof
and nine garage bays opening to the south.

4. Manufacturing Building (contributing). The Targest remaining
building of the complex, buiit prior to 1932 (shown on 1832
Sanborn  Map), this is a steel frame structure with great open
gpace on the interdior. The building is sheathed +in corrugated
metal, which according to Tocal tradition is galvanized tin and
was tdintact in 1824. [t has Targe sliding doors on all four sides
and three~Tight windows surrounding the building. The broad

gable roof 4s topped by a monitor roof Tined with six-Tight
windows .
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5. HWarehouse/Manufacturing Building (noncontributing). This
corrugated metal sided frame structure, built post 1932, Tikely
in  the 1940s, has a shed roof and Targe siiding doors on the
north side. The building was originally more than double dts
present Tength, but was reduced 1in size during the 1983 remodell-
ing .
6. Dorsey Edgar Bolick House

1007 FHirst Avernue South

1938

Contributing

Dorsey Edgar Bolick, a son of Jerome Bolick, was general
mansger of the buggy works. He purchased his brother James'
house next door +in 1911 and Tived there until building this house
for himself +in 1838. It replaced a small frame house owned by
another brother, Marshall Loy Bolick, who moved to Hickory. It
is  a large, two-story brick veneer Colonial Revival styie house
with a combination of features derived from the Georgian and
Federal periods. The main body of the house is three bays wide
with exterior end chimneys, tile shingled gable roof with molded
and boxed cornice, and guarter circlie Touvered vents 1in the gable

ends flanking the chimney stacks. Windows are eight-over-eight
and six—over-six sash with Touvered shutters. A two-story semi-
circular porch decorates the west facade. It has fluted columns
with Tower of the Winds capitals, a Tull entablature and an
ironwork balustrade surrcunding the roof deck. The front en-—
trance has a six—-panel door with Federal style sidelights and
fanTight transom. Above the entrance ig an Hdronwork balcony.

Projecting from the south side of the house 1is a one-story wing
with gable roof and front porch, while a gable-roofed garage
projects from the northeast corner of the house. The +interior of
the Dorsey Edgar Bolick House has a center hall with graceful
Federal style stair with spiral newel, slender turned balusters,

ramped handrail and modified Owen Biddle type brackets. Round
arched paneled doors Tead to large rooms to the north and south
of the hall. Other +inter-or detailis include six—-panel doors, a
heavily molded cornice, and Georgian Revival mantels. The house
wag updated by previous owrers during the 1970s. It 48 sdituated
on a Targe Tot surrounded by trees —-- two magnolias 1n the front
near the street and numerocus oaks elsewhere. (Note: the 1883

buggy shop - is on the southeast corner of this Tot.)
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7. James F. Bolick House
1005 First Avenue South
ca. 1905

Contributing

James F. Bolick was the oldest of Jerome Bolick's sons, born
in 1877. He was a school teacher and according to family tradi-
tion built this house shortiy after 1900. Around 1911 he moved
to Virginia, selling the house to his brother Dorsey Edgar Bol-
ok, The house 1s Tocated at the north end of the district and
is surrounded by shrubbery and a variety of trees «- agnoiia,
wak, walnut, dogwood and f1ir. It s a two-story fhaﬁ§? Colonial
Revival house now covered with aluminum siding. A distinguishing
feature of the house 1s the steeply pitched gambrel roof. The
front (west) gambrel projects outward above the first story bay
window and has Targe carved brackets under the corners which
appear to support it. A porch with paired Doric posts set on
brick plinths stretches from the center bay of the facade nearly
to the rear of the south elevation. Its last bay extends outward
to create a porte-cochere. Windows are one—over-—-one sash. The
main entrance to the house, on the center bay of the west ftacade,
has a glass and wood paneled door. Above the entrance at second
story level is a Targe gabled dormer with a pair of windows with
patterned muntins 1in the upper sash. The intertior of the house
has an drregular floor plan. Partially enclosed stairs wind
upward from the south side of the central vestibule. On the
north side of the vestibule, a door Teads to the parlor, behind
which s a s+itting room, now used as the dining room. Both of
these rooms have Classical mantels with colonettes and a molded
mantel shelf. South of the present dining room 1is the original
dining room with beaded board wainscot and builit-~in cupboard.
The south end of this room has a Targe bay window which projects
onto the side porch. Behind the original dining room 1ds the
kitchen, which also retains +its beaded board wainscot. Molded
baseboards and five-panel doors with molded casing remain in the
house, although some other elements (walls, ceilings, etc.) were
remodeTlled in the 1870s by a previous owner.

8. Garage
mid 20th century
Noncontributing

Southeast of the house is a mid-twentieth century garage.
It s square, brick veneered, and has a pyramidal roof.
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g. (first) Oscar W. Bolick House
1006 First Avenue South
1920

Contributing

This house was erected by Herman and Sipe Builders for Oscar
Whetzel Boldick in 18920. Oscar Bolick was a son of Jerome Bolick
and worked for a time at the buggy shop. In 1927, however, he
started Southern Furniture Company, an important Conover
industry. lLocated on the west side of First Avenue, the house
sits on a Jot which slopes downward toward the rear. Shrubbery
surrounds the house, while maples in the front and oaks +1n the
back provide shade. The house 1is a one-and-one-half-story bunga-
Jow with brick veneered first story and wood shinglied upper
story. The typically broad gable roof has widely overhanging
bracketed eaves and s interupted on the front and rear by Targe
gabled dormers, again with overhanging bracketed eaves. The
front porch has +dironwork posts set on brick plinths and a flat
roof surrounded by an idronwork balustrade. On the north side of
the house 1s a slightiy projJecting rectangular bay, while on the
south side +Hds a small shed-roofed porch sheitering the side
entrance. In the rear are rooms above a garage —-— posgsibly an
addition. The sash windows are generally paired. (The owner
would not permit the inter+ior of the house to be recorded.)

10. (second) Oscar W. BoTick House
1008 First Avenue South
19386
Contributing

In 1936 Oscar Bolick moved from his bungalow next door to
this dmposing Colonial Revival house designed by Hickory archi-
tect R. L. Clemmer. Bolick's widow stiT11 resides 1in the house.
It is & Targe, two-story brick veneer structure with a slate tile
hipped and gabled roof. The east facade is symmetrically ar-
ranged with three major sections. The central section s three
bays wide with central, six-panel door and one-story porch with
paired Doric posts, full classical entablature and deck roof
surrounded by an Hdronwork balustrade. This portion of the facade
has a high hipped roof with three gabled dormers with round
arched, traceried windows. A Targe chimney rises from the center
of the roof. (The entire house roof has a boxed and moided
cornice with dentil frieze.) Flanking the central three bays are
two slightly projecting gabled bays, each two bays wide. Lunette
windows decorate the gablie ends. The north side of the house s
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also symmetrical 1in design. It s three bays wide and has a
central entrance with semi~circular porch with siender Doric
columns and full entablature. On the west side is a one-story
hyphen connecting the house with the gabled garage. The rear
(west side) of the house 1is asymmetrically aranged with project-
ing and receding planes. Windows surrounding the house are six-
over-six sash with wood Touvered shutters. The interior has a
Targe central Tliving room flanked by two rooms on either side -—-
the music room and den on the north and the dining room and
kitchen on the south. Behind the Tiving room 4is a transverse
hall, behind which are a bedroom, bathroom and breakfast room.
Five bedrooms are upstairs. Six—-panel doors with three-part
surrounds are found throughout the house. Particular features of
note are the Targe Tiving room mantel with +its paired pilasters
and tripartite frieze +in the Federal Revival manner, the Georgian

influenced den mantel, and the stair with +dts spiral newel,
slender turned balusters and graceful handrail. The stair 1s
nearly iddentical to the one in the Clyde Bost House near Newton,
designed by Clemmer +in 1828. The Bolick house 1is JTocated on a
Jarge, unusually deep Tot. The house +dtself is surrounded by
well~kept shrubbery consisting largely of hollys, boxwoods and
azalieas. Behind the house 1is a fish pond and a Tawn with TJTarge
magnolias and other trees. A grassy lane leads from the house to

the wooded rear portion of the Tot.

11=14 QOutbuildings associated with {(second) UOscar Bolick House
1936

A collection of dnteresting outbuildings is Jocated toward
the rear of the Jot. Although this area was apparently always
wooded, 1t is now overgrown, making it difficult to inspect some
of the buildings. There are numerous pines, firs, oaks and
rhododendron. In addition to the outbhuilidings, the property
originally had a swimming pool and tennis court, but these are no

Tonger evident.

11. Garage (contributing). Located along the Tane c¢losest to
the house 1is the garage, a single bay, gable-roofed brick veneer
structure.

12. Cabin (contributing). In the woods west of the house is a
one—and-one-half-story cabin, intentionally designed to appear
rustic, as if it were a mountain retreat. It has a stone founda-
tion, hoard and batten siding, a gable roof, a stone chimney on
the south side, a shed-roofed porch on the east facade with tree
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trunk posts, and six—over-six sash windows with batten shutters.
A small el11 is on the rear.

13. Bowling alley (contributing). Not far west of the cabin s
a bowling alley with L-shaped configuration, vertical flush board

siding, and a gable roof.

14 . Barbeque pit/shelter (contributing). South of the bowling
alley is a rustic barbeque pit and shelter with tree trunk corner

supports and Tow gable roof.
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8. Statement of Significance

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:
D nationaily D statewide D_(] locally

Applicable National Register Criteria Xa Xls [Xc (Jo

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ _JA []8 [ Jc [Jo [Je [Jr [e

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
Industry 1883-1939 1883
Architecture

Cultural Affiliation

N/A

Significant Person . Architect/Builder
Bolick, Jerome Clemmer, R.L., Architect

Herman & Sipe Builders

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

The Bolick Historic District is a group of Tate nineteenth
and early twentieth century factory buildings and houses built by

the Jerome Bolick family 1in Conover, Catawba County. The earii-
est and most +dimportant building is a one~story stone and brick
buggy shop built by Jerome Bolick circa 1883, and representing

the beginning of a buggy industry which thrived until the 1920s.
The early twentieth century metal and frame Tactory buildings
near the buggy shop represent the shift to truck and bus body
manufacturing in the 1920s when the business became known as the

Jerome Bolick & Sons Company. Until the 1950s the plant wasg one
of the major manufacturers of North Carolina school buses, and
shifted -HAnto truck body production exclusively during 1ts final
phase of operation, finally closing in 1878. In addition to the
factory, four residences of the Bolick song are included +in the
district. These are the James F. Bolick MHouse, ca. 1905, a two-
story frame Colonial Revival style house with prominent gambrel
roof; the first Oscar W. Bolick House, ca. 1920, a one and one-
half story bungalow; the second UOscar W. Bolick House, ca. 1936,

a two-story brick Colonial Revival style house designed by Hicko-
ry architect R.L. Clemmer and including a rustic cabin and free-
standing bowliing alley; and the Dorsey Edgar Bolick House, 1938,
a two-story brick Colonial Revival house. The district 1is sig-
nificant under Criterion A +in association with the Historic
Context "Industrial Development 1in Catawba County 1850 to 1939,°
and both the dindustrial builidings and the house are significant
under Criterdion C 1in association with the property types "Indus-
trial Builidings in Catawba County" and "Houses 1in Catawba Coun-
ty: Twentieth Century.’ In addition, the district 1is significant
under Criterion B for +its association with Jerome Bolick, known
as the "Father of Conover Industry.’

See continuation sheet
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Historical Background

Jerome Bolick (August 1888-24 January 1938) was

one of

fourteen children born to Amos Elkanah and Caroline Bolch (the

gspelling of the name generalliy changed from Bolich to B
the 18708)1 A. E. Bolch was a farmer with 317 acres.?
also a wagonmaker and wheelwright, one of several such

in Catawba County. Bolch sold his son Jerome forty-two
1879. Upon his father's death in 1880 Jerome Bolick

olick 1n
He was
crafttsmen
acres in
received

eighteen additional acres.?® In 1878 Bolick had married Martha

Propst (March 1857-17 February 1945), daughter of Fran
Julia Smyre Propst. He is said to have chosen to Tive i
in  order that he might educate his children at Tocal
College. Jerome and Martha Bolick had eleven children
daughters and seven sons, five of whom were at some time
ated with the buggy-making operation.?

For the purposes of the 1880 manufacturing censu
Bolick reported that he had tdinvested $700 in his whee]
business. He emploved two men, paying them up to a doll
produce $1,200 worth of finished products.b Yet, up
built the existing brick buggy shop, Bolick’'s plant wa
more than an extension of a blacksmith’'s operation.
successive yvears beginning in 1882, Bolick entered into

kiin and
n Conover
Concordia
-—  founr
associ-

= Jerome
wrighting
ar a day.

unti he
s Jittie
In three
mortgage

agreements, presumably as a means of financing the new buiiding.

But it was Bolick’'s invention of the "perfect steel spri

ng wheel"

that propelled his business toward success. "Our new spring
steel wheel s a wonder of the age in vehicle building," he
claimed in a promotional tract. Bolick obtained four patents for
his Hdnvention +dn 1888. The wheel, made of steel which was not
easily bent or broken and which featured sockets which would not
work Joose or decay, was guaranteed to be comfortable on “rough
country roads or cobble stone streets in the cities.” "It com-

strength,

prises every quality essential to a perfect whee] =-

resiliency, durabiliity," Bolick claimed. ! He acquired considera-
ble fame TJocally fTor his accomplishment. "Conover has also
within her gates an +inventive genius, 1in the person of Mr. Jerome
BoTick," according to a Hickory newspaper of 1880. In 1807 the
invention received a first place award at the Jamestown Exhibi-
tion.®

Bolick’™s product Tine included a number of different buggy
styles, all advertised using modern techniques. "Conover s
"Quality, ' Easy Riding, tight Running,” according to one ad. Of
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the Pony model, "evervone exclaims 'How Pretty.'" "It vyou are
Tooking for a vehicle that will attract favorable comments wher-
ever 1t goes, you have found 1t 1in the "Quality' Dorsey." Other

models Hdnciuded the Dixie Leader, Pattern Top Buggy, Stick Seat
Flat Wagon, Basket Seat Buggy, and Extension Top Surrey. At the
peak of production around 1818 the company produced twenty-eight
buggies per week.9 The evolution of the physical plant around
the buggy shop cannot be determined from existing information.
It is probable that the operation was conducted primarily in the
one shop for a number of yvears after 1883. However, the 1832
Sanborn Map shows that the Bolick Buggy Shop grounds, bounded by
Highway 10 and Acme Street (now known as Hwy. 16 and Railroad PT.
$.E.), encompassed at Teast eight buildings as well as several
Tumber piles. Four of the structures were of considerable size,
including the present warehouse building (#4 on attached sketch
map), then used as a factory and for painting, a buiiding used
for uphoistering, varnishing, and storage, a planing mill, and a
warehouse. Among the smaller buildings were a Tumber shed, the
boiTler house, and the office. Also on the grounds were an ele-
vated 7,000 gallon water tank and & storage area for excelsior
(packing materdial). A1l of these buildings, except the Tlarge
warehouse, were replaced in the 1940s and 50s, or torn down in
1983. The plant, which had emplioyed as few as two workers +in its
earliest days, had over thirty emplioyees by the 1930s. 10

The Boldicks' product changed with the times. The opsration
gradually shifted away fTrom buggy manufacture to custom body work
on trucks and buses. The buggy market began to decliine in 1919
and, with the widespread use of combustion—-engine automobiles,
disappeared almost entirely 1in the 1920s. The Bolicks began
modifying truck bodies in the mid=1920s and produced their first
school busg in 1929. In time the Conover company became one of
the largest school bus manufacturers in the South, shipping thetir
product to Tennessee, South Carolina, Florida, and Georgia.
Within North Carolina the company sold the buses directly to
counties until the state took over such purchases in 1934, In
the following vyears the Bolicks had annual contracts with the
state, for example, suppiying 250 buses +in 1937. The buses,
originally made of wood and steel, were by 1938 all-steel. The
company was one of the Tast North Carolina-based suppliers of
buses to the state; however, by the 1950s, the trade had been
entirely taken over by out-of-state manufacturers. With the
disappearance of a second market, the Bolicks once again redi-
rected thedir business, this time to a concentration on truck
bodies (specifically paneied +trucks), wvans, and soft drink
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The ownership and management of the firm changed with time,
although it remained in the Bolick family. Jerome Bolick was 1in
time Jjoined in the company by five of his sons: James F. (born 1in
1879), Dorsey Edgar (1881), Marshall Loy (1883), Rolland K.,
(1887), and Oscar W. (1889).12 With the elder Bolick's retire-
ment the operation became know as Jerome Bolick & Sons Company.
Jerome Bolick died at the age of seventy-nine on January 24,

1938, one week after suffering a stroke. He was buried at Con-
cordia Luthern Church. The pioneer manufacturer and tinventor was
called the "Father of Conover Industry" in the Jocal paper, which

noted 1in an editorial that he had "contributed a reat deal
through his own efforts and the work of his children."'3 By the
terms of his will Jerome BoTlick Teft his house (since destroved)
and other buildings to his sons, who in turn were to retain the
house for their mother Martha (she died in 1845). He Teft other
property to his daughters but specifically excliuded the sons
invoived in the business, noting that he had previously assisted

them during his Tifetime and that they were 1n "good financial
circumstances . " 14 Two of the five sons had Teft the business
some years earlier. James Bolick, the oldest, became a school-
teacher and by 1911 had moved to Virginia, selling his interest
in the company to his brothers. 19 Oscar Bolick Teft to establish
the Southern Furniture Company in 1827. A third brother, Mar-
shall Loy Bolick, died on December 22, 1935, Teaving hig share of

the company to his brothers Rolland K. and Dorsey Edgar*16

Thus, after their father's death in 1838, Rolland K. and
Dorsey Edgar Bolick were Teft with total control of the family
business. The brothers were "identified with about every pro-
gressive movement for the upbuﬁ?ding of their town and county,”
according to a Hickory newspaper.1 Rolland K. Bolick served
several terms on the board of county commissioners; horsey Edgar
Bolick was also active in local political and civic organiza-
tions. After his brother Teft the business in 1945, Dorsey Edgar
Bolick (1881-12 March 1963) was the sole owner. The Tast Bol-
ick's property holdings were considerablie. Although Jerome and
Martha Bolick's house was destroyed sometime after her death in
1945, the Holick sons had by that time builit several houses on
the property. (See the discussion of these houses 1in SBection 7.)
Bolick died on March 12, 1963, at the age of eighty-two, Teaving
his house and personal property to his wife and his business
operation to his son-in-law C. Robert Wanzer .18
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Wanzer, married to Dorsey Edgar Bolick's daughter Evelyn,
was born 1in Baltimore, educated in Charlotte schools, and gradu-
ated from Duke Universtity. Prior to coming to Conover, he had
worked for a trucking company in Chariotte. Ag of 19865 Wanzer
had five employees with an annual payroll of $24,000. His truck
body works served an area within a 100-milie radius of Conover .19
Wanzer, Tike the Bolicks before him, kept an interest in buggies,
stocking parts and offering to do repairs when necessary. He was
proud of the fact that, despite decliining business, he had not
fired any employees, but rather lost them through attrition. In
November 1977 officials of the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration visited Wanzer and concliuded that continued opera-
tion would require complete rewiring, an overhaul of machinery,
and other changes. Wanzer chose instead to shut down, relieving
his Tast employee 1in January 1978 and delivering the Tast truck
body the following month. When Jerry Bledsoe of the Charliotte
Observer visited him in May 1978 he was cleaning out and closing

up shop. Much of the "compound of sagging sheds and rusty-roofed
buiidings" described by Bledsoe has since been cleared.<V Since
1978 Wanzer and his wife have sold the ‘industrial operation
property; 1t has subsequentiy had several owners . 2] The “indus-
trial site g currentiy owned by Gungar Solimaz of G.S5. Fabrics, a
Jocal textile manufacturer, and used for storage. The Bolick

houses and the 1883 Bolick Buggy Shop are owned by Jerome W.
Bolick of Southern Furniture Company, and his mother, Bertha W.
Bolick, widow of Oscar W. Bolick.
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INinth and Tenth Censuses, 1870, 1880, PopuTlation Schedules.
The "Bolick" spelling although common to North Carolina, 1is far
Tess common than "Bolich" in states such as Pennsylivania. Family
members using both spellings belong to the same clan. Oscar W.
Bolick of Conover was an active c¢lan member +in the 1930s. Mary
Margaret Bolich, The Bolich Family in America (Allentown, Pa.:

Schiechter’s Publishers, 1939), 138.

2Catawba County Tax Records, North Carolina State Archives;
Newton Observer, 27 March 19852.

SCatawba County Deed Book 11, p. 178, and Deed Book 20, o .
394 .

4 Newton Observer, 27 March 1952; Twelifth Census, 1900,
Popuiation Schedule.

STenth Census, 1880, Manufacturing Schedule.

SCcatawba County Deed Eook 16,p. 238, and Deed Book 19, pp. 9

and 508. "J. Bolch" was first Tisted 1in a directory of Jocal
businesses as a Conover carriage and buggy manufacturer +in 1884,
and was similarily Tisted in subseguent years. Levi Branson,
comp., Branson's North Carolina Business Directory (Raledigh: Levd

Branson, 1884-189%), 1884, p. 1988; 1890, p. 171; 1896, p. 167;
and 1897, p. 167,

T Jerome Bolick & Sons, Conover, dNorth Carolina," promotion-
a’l pamphilet, n.d., +in the North Carolina Colilection, University
of North Carolina at Chapel Hil11 Library.

8(Hﬁckory) Presg and Carolinian, Trade Edition, Volume 20,
Number 1, January 1880; Newton Ubserver, 27 March 1852.

9" Jerome Bolick & Sons” pamphlet; Newton Ubserver, 27 March

1952.

108anborn Map Company, Map, Conover, Catawba County, North
Carolina, 1932 (New York: Sanborn Map Co., 1932); Charlotte
Observer, 23 May 1978.

127Twelfth Census, 1900, Population Scheduie.
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286.

13catawba News—Enterprigse, 28 January 193¢8.

Theatawba County Will Book 5, p. 556, and Deed Book 292, p.

185 TweTlfth Census, 1900, Population Schedule; Catawba County

Deed. Book 898, p. 25.

Book

16catawba County Deed Book 265, p. 540.

"Higkory Daily Regord, U. D. C. Edition, February 1938.

183reansboro Daily News, 13 March 1963; Catawba County DUeed

758, p. 65.

1944 ckory Daily Record, 1 September 1965.

20chariotte Observer, 23 May 1978.

2lcatawba County Deed Book 1225, p. 898, and Deed Book 1250,

p. 534.
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DSee continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
The boundary of the nominated historic district is indicated by the solid bold line on
the accompanying map which is a composite of portions of Catawba County Tax Maps 10-C
and 11-C, drawn at a scale of 1" = 100'.

I:]See continuation sheet

Boundary Justification
The Bolick Historic District is comprised of the entire lot historically associated with
the Jerome Bolick & Sons industrial site and the lots which are historically associated
with the James Bolick House, D. Edgar Bolick House and the two Oscar W. Bolick Houses.

D See continuation sheet
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The following information pertains to all photographs:
1) Bolick Historic District
2) Conover, North Carolina

3) Laura Phillips

4) May 1983
5) North Carolina Division of Archives and History, Raleigh, NC

A. 6) Buggy Shop (1), to west

B. 6) Office (2) and garage (3), to east. (Note: Water tank and building in
background are no longer standing and their sites are outside the district.)

C. 6) Manufacturing building (4), to northeast

D. 6) D. Edgar Bolick House (6), to mortheast

E. 6) D. Edgar Bolick House (6), interior, stair
F. 6) James Bolick House (7), to east

G. 6) James Bolick House, interior, parlor mantel
H. 6) 1lst Oscar W. Bolick House (9), to south

I. 6) 2nd Oscar W. Bolick House- (10),to west

J. 6) 2nd Oscar W. Bolick House, to southeast

K. 6) 2nd Oscar W. Bolick House, interior, mantel
L. 6) Cabin (12), to west

M. 6) Bowling alley (13), to west

N. 6) BBQ Shelter (l4), to west

NOTE: All of the photos used in this nomination were taken in 1983. All resources have
been thoroughly field checked by Barbara Kooiman in 1989 and have been determined to be
unchanged from their appearance and condition portrayed in these photos.
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